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In 2016, Corn Belt Power Cooperative explored ways 
to be even better than before, adding infrastructure, 
technologies and new methods that continue to 
sharpen our performance. 

Corn Belt Power’s goal to enhance service to 
member systems drives the cooperative to – 
“Never Stop Getting Better.”

Jake McCullough, apprentice electrician, installs ground 
wire on a new transformer at Rockford Substation.



Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s decision-making throughout 2016 
showed the cooperative’s intent to “Never Stop Getting Better.”  
From adding new transmission infrastructure to improving generation 
technology to growing our commercial and industrial load, Corn Belt  
Power continuously works to advance our service to member systems.

Executive 
  Report

Having a strong transmission system once again reaped 

many benefits for Corn Belt Power, including attracting joint 

ventures with other utilities and generating revenue through 

our regional transmission organization membership. 

The addition of the new Green Park Switching Station 

and upgrade of our Hope Switching Station improved 

our capability to transmit power. These projects not 

only improve our system reliability, but they also help 

us interconnect with neighboring investor-owned and 

municipal utility projects.

Corn Belt Power saw many miles of its 161 kilovolt line 

upgraded with MidAmerican Energy Company and ITC 

Midwest multi-value projects (MVPs) in 2016. We’ve always 

had positive, long-term working relationships with Iowa’s 

investor-owned utilities. These projects rebuild our aging 

lines with heavier conductor and steel monopoles, making 

the facilities better for all utilities involved.

Last year, we completed a transaction with ITC Midwest 

in which we traded some of our transmission facilities. 

 2016

Kenneth H. Kuyper 
Executive Vice President  
and General Manager

Donald Feldman 
President, Board 
of Directors
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Executive 
  Report

This project helped strengthen our system, allowing us to 

exchange facilities we no longer needed for assets within 

our system territory. 

The opportunity for all of these transmission upgrades 

would not have happened without Corn Belt Power’s 

constant vigilance to maintain our strong transmission 

system. We positioned our cooperative well by having 

assets and right-of-way that keep our relatively small 

cooperative a key utility in northern Iowa’s electric grid.

Work on the MVPs made it difficult to take additional 

sections of line out of service at the same time. Crews, 

therefore, reconductored fewer miles of transmission line in 

Corn Belt Power’s system in 2016 than in previous years. We 

intend to increase the miles of line reconductored in 2017 

and future years to make sure we keep strengthening aging 

transmission infrastructure. 

In 2016, Corn Belt Power completed our first full year of 

membership in the Southwest Power Pool. Overall, our 

involvement produced positive economic results, allowing 

us to reduce some of our costs and generate revenue from 

many of our transmission assets.

Our employees are important Corn Belt Power assets. 

Investing in modern equipment keeps them safe and 

productive. A new digger derrick at the Hampton Service 

Center, along with upgrades to our control center and 

desks that allow employees either to sit or stand while 

working, show how Corn Belt Power continues to invest in 

its people.

Corn Belt Power extended future operating capabilities at 

Wisdom Generating Station in 2016, replacing the aging 

redwood cooling tower with a new fiberglass structure. 

Basin Electric Power Cooperative’s financial involvement 

in the cooling tower project helps keep the recently 

repowered plant a viable generating source.

The board of directors approved adding security measures 

at Wisdom Station, including a new entry gate and 

numerous cameras with motion detectors. Because of the 

world we live in today, we must maintain our vigilance in 

protecting our people and facilities.

As another example of Corn Belt Power’s security and 

safety focus in 2016, we chose to tear out the dam on the 

Des Moines River that previously served the Humboldt 

Generating Station. We’ve always known that the dam 

presented a potential hazard to swimmers and boaters, 

even with posted signs announcing the danger. With 

the plant gone, we had no need for the dam. When we 

learned about the opportunity to partner with the Iowa 

Department of Natural Resources, we knew it was time to 

remove the structure.

In 2016, Corn Belt Power saw many of its member 

cooperatives explore the potential of solar energy by 

constructing demonstration projects of approximately 

150 kilowatts. Now fully subscribed, Basin Electric’s small 

renewable energy rate helps co-ops at the retail level 

educate their members with these projects and make sure 

those members have the facts when considering adding a 

solar project to their homes or businesses.

We positioned our cooperative 
well by having assets and right-of-
way that keep our relatively small 
cooperative a key utility in northern 
Iowa’s electric grid.

Jake Olberding, assistant plant manager, reviews progress 
on the new fiberglass cooling tower at Wisdom Station.



No one likes a rate increase — not members and not their 

power suppliers. Basin Electric increased its average 

systemwide rate to members 12 percent Aug. 1, 2016. Due 

to strategic planning by our board, Corn Belt Power was 

able to delay the increase to its members until Nov. 1.

In 2016, Corn Belt Power created a Financial Task Force that 

included directors, staff members and distribution co-op 

managers who developed a new policy that sets financial 

metrics for the cooperative. Corn Belt Power will make a 

special patronage allocation to its member cooperatives 

when margins exceed a minimum targeted times interest 

earned ratio (TIER) and debt service coverage (DSC) 

ratio. Corn Belt Power will pay this allocation back to its 

members under a last-in first-out distribution method the 

following year. The task force also set goals to exceed the 

minimum TIER and DSC on an annual basis.

The work of the Financial Task Force shows how Corn Belt 

Power listened to its member cooperatives when, during 

strategic planning, they expressed a need for information 

to create accurate expectations for their future financial 

positions. Because of our cooperative efforts, Corn Belt 

Power and its stakeholders have a common vision for how 

we will deal with future margins.

When Corn Belt Power joined Basin Electric as a Class 

A member back in 2009, we acknowledged the value of 

cooperative membership and the opportunity to have our 

interests represented on the board. As directors discuss 

and take positions on important issues at the Basin Electric 

board table, we will use our voice as a cooperative member.

We advocate that Basin Electric explores all possibilities 

and options for the future to keep Basin Electric financially 

strong for its members. That includes finding the best 

opportunities for the future of Dakota Gasification 

Company’s Great Plains Synfuels Plant and the urea 

operation currently under construction. 

Basin Electric’s financial rating has a great deal of 

influence on Corn Belt Power’s credit ratings. As Corn Belt 

Power continues to renew its system, we will likely need 

funds not only from the Rural Utilities Service, but also 

from the capital markets. A strong credit rating will help us 

secure those funds at the lowest possible cost. Corn Belt 

Power was pleased to have its “A” 

credit rating affirmed again by two 

ratings agencies in 2016. The board 

has identified maintaining those 

ratings as an important goal.

In 2016, Prairie Energy Cooperative 

landed what will be the largest single 

load not only on its lines, but also in the 

Corn Belt Power system. Prestage Foods of 

Iowa will come online in 2018. Prairie Energy 

and Corn Belt Power encouraged Prestage 

Foods to choose the location south of Eagle 

Grove served by the cooperatives. We have 

always promoted growth in our system. Not only 

does this kind of development help us spread fixed 

costs over more kilowatt-hours, but it also enhances 

employment in the rural area. Developments like 

these increase the tax base in the county and the local 

community. All in all, this type of economic development 

poses a huge win for the business, the community, the 

cooperatives and, most of all, the people of rural Iowa.

Justin Hinners, left, and Howard Henkelvig, apprentice linemen, reconductor transmission line in Sac County. 
Crews shortened spans and installed heavier conductor to increase reliability and capacity.

Corn Belt Power was pleased to have 
its “A” credit rating affirmed again 
by two ratings agencies in 2016.
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We want to continue to be an employer of choice 

because certainly our people serve as one of our  

greatest resources. They provide our best option  

for developing and implementing our plans to  

“Never Stop Getting Better.” 

Kenneth H. Kuyper 
Executive Vice President  
and General Manager

Donald Feldman 
President, Board 
of Directors

In 2016, we announced plans to expand two industrial parks — Humboldt Business Park and 

Touchstone Energy Park at Garner — since lots at the existing parks were almost full. We established 

industrial parks to sell more power. We know that many companies look for facilities they can 

move into immediately and if we have a speculative building available, we can quickly get a foot 

in the door to serve them.

We also have our Revolving Loan Fund that helps many small businesses develop and grow. 

If we don’t help our smaller rural communities, they will slowly wither. By providing low-

interest loans, our co-ops and their members benefit by having new businesses locate 

near them and by having services like health care facilities closer to their home base. 

Our Revolving Loan Fund has been so valuable to businesses that limited dollars 

remain available to loan out.
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No one likes a rate increase — not members and not their 

power suppliers. Basin Electric increased its average 

systemwide rate to members 12 percent Aug. 1, 2016. Due 

to strategic planning by our board, Corn Belt Power was 

able to delay the increase to its members until Nov. 1.

In 2016, Corn Belt Power created a Financial Task Force that 

included directors, staff members and distribution co-op 

managers who developed a new policy that sets financial 

metrics for the cooperative. Corn Belt Power will make a 

special patronage allocation to its member cooperatives 

when margins exceed a minimum targeted times interest 

earned ratio (TIER) and debt service coverage (DSC) 

ratio. Corn Belt Power will pay this allocation back to its 

members under a last-in first-out distribution method the 

following year. The task force also set goals to exceed the 

minimum TIER and DSC on an annual basis.

The work of the Financial Task Force shows how Corn Belt 

Power listened to its member cooperatives when, during 

strategic planning, they expressed a need for information 

to create accurate expectations for their future financial 

positions. Because of our cooperative efforts, Corn Belt 

Power and its stakeholders have a common vision for how 

we will deal with future margins.

When Corn Belt Power joined Basin Electric as a Class 

A member back in 2009, we acknowledged the value of 

cooperative membership and the opportunity to have our 

interests represented on the board. As directors discuss 

and take positions on important issues at the Basin Electric 

board table, we will use our voice as a cooperative member.

We advocate that Basin Electric explores all possibilities 

and options for the future to keep Basin Electric financially 

strong for its members. That includes finding the best 

opportunities for the future of Dakota Gasification 

Company’s Great Plains Synfuels Plant and the urea 

operation currently under construction. 

Basin Electric’s financial rating has a great deal of 

influence on Corn Belt Power’s credit ratings. As Corn Belt 

Power continues to renew its system, we will likely need 

funds not only from the Rural Utilities Service, but also 

from the capital markets. A strong credit rating will help us 

secure those funds at the lowest possible cost. Corn Belt 

Power was pleased to have its “A” credit rating affirmed 

again by two ratings agencies in 2016. The board has 

identified maintaining those ratings as an important goal.

In 2016, Prairie Energy Cooperative landed what will be 

the largest single load not only on its lines, but also in 

the Corn Belt Power system. 

Prestage Foods of Iowa will 

come online in 2018. Prairie Energy 

and Corn Belt Power encouraged 

Prestage Foods to choose the location 

south of Eagle Grove served by the 

cooperatives. We have always promoted 

growth in our system. Not only does 

this kind of development help us spread 

fixed costs over more kilowatt-hours, but it 

also enhances employment in the rural area. 

Developments like these increase the tax base 

in the county and the local community. All in 

all, this type of economic development poses 

a huge win for the business, the community, the 

cooperatives and, most of all, the people of rural 

Iowa.

Justin Hinners, left, and Howard Henkelvig, apprentice linemen, reconductor transmission line in Sac County. 
Crews shortened spans and installed heavier conductor to increase reliability and capacity.

Throughout 2016, electric co-op representatives 

attended grassroots events, meeting with state and 

federal legislators and presidential candidates. We 

must get to know our representatives so when they 

consider an issue that affects us, they are willing 

to listen to our viewpoint. If they understand the 

cooperative difference, they know that our mission 

is to improve our communities, not to increase 

investors’ wealth. 

We were pleased to learn that the U.S. Supreme 

Court issued a stay to the Clean Power Plan 

regulation until litigation could run its course. 

Shock followed when Justice Antonin Scalia died 

suddenly, leaving an opening on the court and a 4–4 

opinion regarding the course of the Clean Power 

Plan regulation. We are hopeful that the future path 

of carbon regulation will allow utilities more time 

to comply. More time will allow new technology to 

develop and progress to be made on carbon capture 

and improved electricity storage capabilities.

Throughout 2016, we continued to promote 

our energy efficiency programs for homes and 

businesses. Energy efficiency remains the cheapest 

generation around, resulting in saved kilowatt-hours 

and less need to build new power supply. 

Offering energy efficiency 

programs also gives members 

a good alternative to installing solar 

panels. These programs help us respond 

to members’ concerns about high bills, rate 

increases and environmental issues. Indeed, it’s 

difficult sometimes to lay out funds to encourage 

members to use less of the product we produce and 

sell. But the truth is that members want and need 

these programs and we are in the business of serving 

members.

The Touchstone Energy brand also assists with 

member engagement. We’ve spent considerable 

time and money developing our brand nationwide to 

stand for the cooperative difference. Industries and 

individuals alike acknowledge that the Touchstone 

Energy brand and its programs help advance co-ops’ 

effectiveness in serving their members.

In 2016, Corn Belt Power continued to offer training 

as part of the cooperative’s I Act University, 

encouraging development in communication and 

employee effectiveness. We appreciate when 

employees make Corn Belt Power their home for 

long periods of time. Last year, we surveyed our 

employees to affirm our strengths and discover 

opportunities to improve our workplace. 

Hope Switching Station now includes a 161 kilovolt ring bus with circuit breakers that can 
operate on a fault or be opened for maintenance without interruption on other circuits.
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Member Cooperative Rates
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Average member system cost, including substation charge; calculated average member 
co-op rate reflects power sold to municipals and others served by the cooperatives.
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We want to continue to be an employer of choice 

because certainly our people serve as one of our  

greatest resources. They provide our best option  

for developing and implementing our plans to  

“Never Stop Getting Better.” 

Kenneth H. Kuyper 
Executive Vice President  
and General Manager

Donald Feldman 
President, Board 
of Directors
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YEAR
IN  
REVIEW
2016

Throughout all activities at Corn Belt Power Cooperative in 

2016 — whether in the cooperative’s generating facilities, 

boardroom, control center, transmission system or offices 

— Corn Belt Power partnered with its member systems to 

enhance the quality of life in local communities.

Throughout the year, Corn Belt Power showed its 

determination to “Never Stop Getting Better.”



Switching  
station and  
substation  
projects
New and upgraded switching stations improve service 

reliability to member systems. Corn Belt Power crews 

began construction of the Green Park Switching Station, 

southeast of Spencer, in the fall of 2015 with grading and 

concrete work. They built and energized the facility in 2016. 

Four lines feed into the switching station — two from the 

Corn Belt Power system and two from Spencer Municipal 

Utilities. The $1.4 million facility creates a loop in the system 

that improves reliability for both utilities.

A six-week planned outage in the fall at Corn Belt Power’s 

Hope Switching Station, southeast of Humboldt, allowed 

Corn Belt Power crews to upgrade the station by adding 

a 161 kilovolt ring bus, which improves reliability of this 

important facility located at the center of the cooperative’s 

grid. During this upgrade, crews removed the last oil-filled 

circuit breaker located in a Corn Belt Power switching 

station. Three new sulfur hexafluoride circuit breakers  

and four microprocessor-based relay panels replaced  

older equipment.

In 2016, Corn Belt Power crews installed new sulfur 

hexafluoride circuit breakers and microprocessor-based 

relay panels to upgrade the 161 kilovolt Wisdom Switching 

Station near Spencer. Additionally, in the fall, crews built 

the new $500,000 69 kilovolt Ellsworth Substation to serve 

commercial and industrial growth in the Ellsworth area. 

Midland Power Cooperative supplies power to the City  

of Ellsworth.

Mark Saxton, journeyman lineman, 
helps build the Green Park 
Switching Station, Spencer.

Electricians install circuit breakers 
during the upgrade of Hope 
Switching Station, Humboldt.

Jon Girres, left, journeyman electrician, and 
Jim Mertz, apprentice electrician, look over 
prints for the Hope Switching Station upgrade.
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Rick Skow, right, electrical maintenance foreman, prepares to install 
a truss as crews build the Green Park Switching Station, Spencer.



Transmission 
projects with  
investor-owned 
utilities
During the Hope outage, MidAmerican Energy Company rebuilt Corn Belt 

Power’s 161 kilovolt transmission line between Hope and Webster switching 

stations. This section of line is part of MidAmerican Energy’s ongoing multi-

value projects that construct new 345 kilovolt line in Corn Belt Power’s existing 

right-of-way, with Corn Belt Power’s 161 kilovolt phases on one side of the poles 

and MidAmerican Energy’s 345 kilovolt phases on the other.

In 2016, Corn Belt Power and ITC Midwest traded some transmission assets 

to simplify operations and provide advantages that benefit each utility. The 

agreement exchanged facilities that were owned by each respective utility, but 

were located within the other utility’s system.

The trade included Corn Belt Power assets previously purchased for a power 

plant near Marshalltown that was never built. In exchange for that property and 

additional facilities surrounded by ITC Midwest assets, Corn Belt Power received 

sections of line in Emmet, Hamilton, Hardin and Grundy counties.
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Crews from EC Source build MidAmerican Energy Company’s new 345 kilovolt 
multi-value project near Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s Webster Switching Station.
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Crews from EC Source build MidAmerican Energy Company’s new 345 kilovolt 
multi-value project near Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s Webster Switching Station.

Engineering 
and system 
operation 
projects
2016 marked the first full year of Corn Belt Power’s 

membership in the Southwest Power Pool (SPP). Serving 

as Corn Belt Power’s reliability coordinator, SPP helped 

mitigate voltage and transmission overload issues that 

occurred on Corn Belt Power’s transmission system 

relating to investor-owned utilities’ multi-value projects.

Also associated with its SPP membership, Corn Belt Power 

personnel attended settlement conferences monitored by a 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission judge to determine 

the appropriate rate Corn Belt Power may charge for use 

of its transmission system in the Upper Missouri Zone in 

SPP. Corn Belt Power expects this rate case to be resolved 

in 2017.

Throughout the year, Corn Belt Power continued to 

reconductor sections of its 69 kilovolt transmission lines, 

shortening spans where needed and installing heavier 

conductor to increase reliability and capacity. Projects 

included a section of line in Sac County where crews 

reconductored 2.4 miles of line affected by the widening 

of Highway 20, with the remaining 6.1 miles of line to be 

completed in the near future.
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Corn Belt Power Cooperative crews make line repairs after a 
July 17 storm broke 10 transmission poles in the Renwick Tap. 



Crews finished reconductoring 7.3 miles of transmission 

line from New Hampton to Fredericksburg in Chickasaw 

County during the year. Also in 2016, crews replaced 

approximately 40 rotten poles throughout the system as 

part of ongoing maintenance.

New Alcatel-Lucent communications equipment with 

Internet Protocol is replacing decades-old Fujitsu models, 

which will result in more efficient communications 

between Corn Belt Power’s data center and its 

other facilities. The new equipment will facilitate the 

cooperative’s supervisory control and data acquisition 

communications; connections to Wisdom Station and 

service centers; communications with substations; and 

Internet connections for member cooperatives. The 

project cost totals approximately $1.2 million.

The new communications equipment will provide bigger 

bandwidth for the connection between Corn Belt 

Power’s headquarters and Wisdom Station, increasing 

the efficiency of daily off-site computer system backup 

that the Information Technology Department facilitates 

between the two locations.

The increased bandwidth also has the potential to 

support video cameras and wireless Internet access at 

each substation with a microwave tower.

In January, new emergency power equipment installed 

at Corn Belt Power’s headquarters updated decades-

old models. The new technology ensures uninterrupted 

power supply to essential functions should an outage 

of the building’s general power supply occur. The 

project included a new diesel generator, inverter, battery 

bank/charger and power transfer switch. It involved 

extensive planning by Corn Belt Power’s information 

technology personnel, system operators, communications 

technicians, electricians and Midland Power Cooperative 

employees to transfer control center operations from the 

headquarters building to the alternate control center.

Corn Belt Power Cooperative crews repair transmission 
line in March after a storm with high winds, ice and heavy 
snow damaged structures and froze switches.

Crews work on reconductoring a section 
of transmission line in Sac County. 
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Connor Almond, journeyman lineman, 
bundles rope during a reconductoring 
project east of Schaller.



Crews finished reconductoring 7.3 miles of transmission 

line from New Hampton to Fredericksburg in Chickasaw 

County during the year. Also in 2016, crews replaced 

approximately 40 rotten poles throughout the system as 

part of ongoing maintenance.

New Alcatel-Lucent communications equipment with 

Internet Protocol is replacing decades-old Fujitsu models, 

which will result in more efficient communications 

between Corn Belt Power’s data center and its 

other facilities. The new equipment will facilitate the 

cooperative’s supervisory control and data acquisition 

communications; connections to Wisdom Station and 

In January, new emergency power equipment installed 

at Corn Belt Power’s headquarters updated decades-

old models. The new technology ensures uninterrupted 

power supply to essential functions should an outage 

of the building’s general power supply occur. The 

project included a new diesel generator, inverter, battery 

bank/charger and power transfer switch. It involved 

extensive planning by Corn Belt Power’s information 

technology personnel, system operators, communications 

technicians, electricians and Midland Power Cooperative 

employees to transfer control center operations from the 

headquarters building to the alternate control center.

Corn Belt Power Cooperative crews repair transmission 
line in March after a storm with high winds, ice and heavy 
snow damaged structures and froze switches.
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Remodeling in August increased efficiency of 

operations in Corn Belt Power’s control center. A new 

three-piece control desk makes monitors and maps 

more accessible for system operators. Operators can 

elevate each end of the new desk, allowing them to 

work from a standing position and quickly respond 

to system alarms. New carpeting over the raised 

tile floor reduces noise while still allowing access to 

wiring below.

On March 24, 30-mile-per-hour wind gusts coupled 

with a fresh layer of ice and wet, heavy snow left 

Corn Belt Power with 11 damaged structures and 

multiple frozen switches. Corn Belt Power electrical 

crews manually opened ice-locked motor operated 

switches. Galloping line unhooked insulators and 

broke crossarm bolts and braces along sections 

of line from Sac City to Odebolt; Humboldt to 

Sherwood; and Belmond to Alexander.

Crews repaired line damage after a July 17 storm in 

which sustained straight-line winds topping 70 miles 

per hour broke 10 poles in the Renwick Tap.

In 2016, the Hampton transmission crew replaced its 

digger derrick with a new 60-foot $400,000 Terex 

Telelect model. The custom-made all-wheel-drive 

truck has a 60-foot boom with a 15-foot extension.

New Alcatel-Lucent 
communications equipment with 
Internet Protocol is replacing 
decades-old Fujitsu models, 
which will result in more efficient 
communications between Corn 
Belt Power’s data center and  
its other facilities.

A GoPro camera mounted atop a transmission pole gives a bird’s 
eye view of Chris Smith, left, journeyman lineman, and Howard 
Henkelvig, apprentice lineman, as they install a new switch.

Chris Shillington, left, communications 
technician, goes through training with 
personnel from Alcatel-Lucent on new 
communications equipment.

Rick Skow, left, electrical maintenance 
foreman, and Mitch Thompson, 
journeyman electrician, remove old 
battery equipment at Corn Belt Power 
Cooperative headquarters.
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Chris Smith, journeyman lineman, wraps up guy wire 
during a reconductoring project in Sac County. 
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Wisdom 
Generating 
Station
In 2016, Corn Belt Power replaced its cooling tower at Wisdom 

Generating Station, Spencer, due to deterioration of the 

facility’s original redwood structure. EvapTech, Lenexa, Kan., 

built the new reinforced fiberglass tower. EvapTech’s arched 

open-mesh design of the “fill” components creates more water 

droplets and increases the efficiency of the cooling tower.

Wisdom Station remained offline from late August to mid-

November for the $1.8 million replacement project. Crews also 

replaced the control tower’s motor control center, which dated 

back to the 1960 in-service date of the plant.

Both units at Wisdom Station operated more frequently  

during the summer due to Corn Belt Power’s and Basin  

Electric Power Cooperative’s membership in the Southwest 

Power Pool. Outages in the region resulted in the need for 

Wisdom Station to operate to relieve congestion and act as  

a reliability safeguard.

New technologies installed at Wisdom Station increase security, 

improve maintenance procedures and prepare the cooperative 

to comply with potential new regulations from the North 

American Electric Reliability Corporation.

The new security technologies include an electronically 

controlled entrance gate and 13 new security cameras with 

motion detectors. A new maintenance management system 

helps identify urgent maintenance work and records when tasks 

should be completed.

Both units at Wisdom Station operated 
more frequently during the summer due 
to Corn Belt Power’s and Basin Electric 
Power Cooperative’s membership in the 
Southwest Power Pool.

Steve Smith, control operator, talks with someone 
requesting entry through the Wisdom Station gate.

John Naber, left, electrical/control, and Tyler Herrig, 
electronics technician, route signal cable to the 
cooling tower bypass valves at Wisdom Station.

New technologies at Wisdom Station increase security 
and improve maintenance procedures at the plant.
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Steve Smith, control operator, talks with someone 
requesting entry through the Wisdom Station gate.

John Naber, left, electrical/control, and Tyler Herrig, 
electronics technician, route signal cable to the 
cooling tower bypass valves at Wisdom Station.

New technologies at Wisdom Station increase security 
and improve maintenance procedures at the plant.
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Crews from EvapTech, Lenexa, Kan., build a new fiberglass cooling tower at Wisdom Station.
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Richards Construction, Sac City, tears out a dam on the Des Moines River that served the former Humboldt 
Generating Station. Corn Belt Power Cooperative worked with the Iowa Department of Natural Resources to 
remove the dam, which was a safety hazard.
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Generation projects
Removal of a low-head dam at the former Humboldt 

Generating Station site southeast of Humboldt began in 

November as Des Moines River levels dropped low enough 

for work to proceed. Because the cost of dam removal was 

not in the scope of the plant demolition project in 2000, 

the dam remained in place in the river.

The dam presented a safety concern due to its potential 

as a drowning hazard. Although Corn Belt Power posted 

warning signs over the river for many years, the potential 

for tragedy existed as long as the dam was in place. The 

Iowa Department of Natural Resources approved Corn Belt 

Power’s application for funding to share the cost of the 

dam removal project.

Corn Belt Power chose Richards Construction, Sac City, 

to complete the $200,000 project. The contractor used 

an excavator with a jackhammer attached to break up the 

dam and remove the concrete pieces. Work to remove the 

dam concluded in December. 

Corn Belt Power advocated extending Basin Electric’s 

Renewable Purchase Rate to renewable energy projects 

of less than 150 kilowatts that are owned by member 

cooperatives. Basin Electric offers the special rate as 

a business arrangement similar to its power purchase 

agreements with large wind producers.

In total, 19 solar projects among Corn Belt Power’s member 

co-ops made application to Basin Electric. By the end of 

2016, some projects were built, while others were underway 

or still in the planning phases.

In 2016, the load management system controlled 

approximately 6,000 electric water heaters on member 

cooperatives’ lines. Total load controlled varied by month, 

ranging from six to 10 megawatts. Voluntary control by 

larger commercial and industrial members had a significant 

influence on the amount of load reduced.

Location Fuel MWh 2015 MWh 2016 Annual Capacity 
Factor 2016

Wisdom 1 Spencer, Iowa Natural Gas/Fuel Oil 235 1,345 0.42%

Wisdom 2 Spencer, Iowa Natural Gas/Fuel Oil 1,169 6,785 1.93%

DAEC Palo, Iowa Nuclear 523,863 470,267 86.06%

Walter Scott 3 Council Bluffs, Iowa Coal 146,690 164,570 71.45%

Walter Scott 4 Council Bluffs, Iowa Coal 323,044 239,186 59.44%

Neal 4 Sioux City, Iowa Coal 548,567 291,693 45.64%

Crosswind Ayrshire, Iowa Wind 73,621 72,481 39.29%

Hancock Hancock County, Iowa Wind 29,571 29,684 30.12%

ILEC Wind Superior/Lakota, Iowa Wind 78,956 76,335 41.38%

2016 Energy  
Supplied 

Supplied by Corn Belt Power  
to Basin Electric and NIMECA

Signs posted at the Humboldt Generating 
Station dam site warn people boating, 
swimming and fishing of the safety hazard.
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Sales, peak and rates
Corn Belt Power sold more kilowatt-hours of electricity to its member systems 

in 2016 than in any previous year in the cooperative’s history. Sales totaled 1,962 

million kilowatt-hours in 2016, surpassing both the 2015 total of 1,890 million 

kilowatt-hours and the previous all-time record high of 1,956 million kilowatt-hours, 

set in 2014.

Higher commercial and industrial sales drove the total to record highs. The poultry 

industry resumed operations after recovering from the effects of the avian flu in 2015. 

Although agriculture-related manufacturing was lower in 2016, agriculture processing 

increased. Ethanol plants added load, including new grain handling operations. Much 

of the new commercial and industrial growth has high load factors.

Warm and dry fall weather resulted in low crop-drying loads in 2016.

Corn Belt Power’s system peak occurred on a hot Thursday afternoon July 21. 

Clear skies, high humidity and temperatures that passed 90 degrees resulted in a 

111-degree heat index and a 313-megawatt system peak load.

A Class A member of Basin Electric since 2009, 

Corn Belt Power purchases all of its power supply 

from Basin Electric with the exception of its hydropower 

allocation from the Western Area Power Administration. Basin 

Electric implemented a systemwide average rate increase of 12 

percent Aug. 1 due to market conditions that dramatically changed since 

the power supplier set its 2016 rate. 

Corn Belt Power delayed passing on the rate increase to its member cooperatives 

until Nov. 1, covering some of the costs within its 2016 budget. Increase to the Corn 

Belt Power Rate A beginning Nov. 1 totaled approximately 10 percent. Overall, the 

average member system rate for 2016 was 67.87 mills per kilowatt-hour.

In 2016, for the third consecutive year, Corn Belt Power received “A” credit ratings 

from Kroll Bond Rating Agency and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services. The 

reports cited Corn Belt Power’s strong partnerships and its financial capacity to 

meet its obligations.

Cooperative 2015 kWh Billed  
by Corn Belt Power

2016 kWh Billed  
by Corn Belt Power

Boone Valley Electric Cooperative 9,537,437 9,697,596

Butler County REC 257,154,651 263,111,671

Calhoun County REC 40,143,698 42,575,631

Franklin REC 65,333,702 66,359,574

Grundy County REC 66,416,655 67,496,609

Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative 595,105,339 621,806,020

Midland Power Cooperative 326,314,897 333,939,328

NIMECA/Webster City 100,784,130 104,561,709

Prairie Energy Cooperative 265,280,398 284,473,687

Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative 138,193,306 141,612,239

2016 Sales  
to Corn Belt  

Power Member  
Cooperatives 

Includes sales to member  
cooperatives for special  

loads and municipals
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The board of directors and executive team at Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative 
don sunglasses stating “The Future is Bright” during the dedication of the 

cooperative’s new solar energy project next to its headquarters Oct. 27.
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2016 Annual Deemed kWh Savings  
for Energy Efficiency Programs
RECs + NIMECA/Webster City

Commercial & Industrial/Ag Other

Commercial & Industrial/Variable 
Frequency Drive Motors

Commercial & Industrial Ag Lighting

Insulation, Weatherization,  
Low-Income Kits

Pull the Plug

Energy Star Appliances

Water Heaters & Aerators

Residential Lighting

Air Conditioning & Other

Air Source Heat Pumps

Geothermal Heat Pumps

 606,503

 2,522,318

 4,974,338

 767,580

 264,312

 190,094

 253,247

 1,215,031

 42,525

 1,041,612

 1,392,348

0 1,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 4,000,000 5,000,000 6,000,000

Energy  
efficiency 
programs
During 2016, Corn Belt Power paid its members just over 

$838,000 in rebates for energy efficiency — about $10,000 

higher than in 2015. Corn Belt Power staff calculated 

“deemed kilowatt-hour savings” — the amount of energy 

that high-efficiency technology saves over standard 

technology — for its energy efficiency programs.

For commercial and industrial/agricultural programs, lighting 

represented almost 60 percent of deemed kilowatt-hour 

savings, followed by variable frequency drive electric motors 

with just over 30 percent. Other technologies included 

custom lighting, agriculture fans and light sensors. 

For residential programs, heat pumps constituted just over 

47 percent of total deemed kilowatt-hour savings, followed 

by light-emitting diode bulbs, 17 percent, and low-income 

energy efficiency kits, 10 percent. Co-ops offered additional 

rebates for compact fluorescent lighting, appliance 

recycling, Energy Star appliances, insulation/weatherization 

upgrades and high-efficiency water heaters. 

Doug Vlasman, right, energy advisor, Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative, 
assists a member with his air source heat pump. Heat pump installations 
provided significant deemed kilowatt-hour savings in 2016.
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Large industrial 
load to locate 
on co-op lines
A new pork processing plant, announced in 2016, will locate on Prairie Energy 

Cooperative’s lines south of Eagle Grove. It will not only serve as the largest load 

in the Corn Belt Power system, but also expects to employ more than 900 people, 

benefit the local economy in excess of $58 million annually, provide farmers with a 

competitive outlet for their products and draw additional industries to the area. The 

Wright County Board of Supervisors approved the development agreement for the 

plant in August.

Prestage Foods of Iowa will own and operate the plant, which is expected to be 

online by the fall of 2018. The company’s $240 million investment will include a 

650,000-square-foot facility on 160 acres located approximately five miles south of 

Eagle Grove on Highway 17.

To serve the new load, Corn Belt Power crews will build a new switching station  

and substation at the plant site. Additionally, they will build a one-and-a-half-mile 

section of transmission line that will extend the Troy Tap and a second transmission 

line that will run back to the Eagle Grove to Willemssen line, creating a loop for 

increased reliability.

Design work on the new switching station and substation will begin in 2017 and 

crews will construct the new facilities in 2018.

Jere Null, chief operating officer, Prestage Foods of Iowa, 
details the company’s new pork processing plant during 
a presentation at Corn Belt Power Cooperative.

This artist’s rendering shows the planned Prestage Foods of 
Iowa pork processing plant, which will be built on Prairie Energy 
Cooperative’s lines south of Eagle Grove on Highway 17.
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Industrial park  
expansions
Corn Belt Power announced plans in 2016 to expand two industrial parks 

located on member co-op lines. Corn Belt Power and Prairie Energy 

are working with the City of Garner to expand the Touchstone Energy 

Cooperative Park at Garner. The 19.5-acre expansion will add eight lots to 

the existing seven lots. Only two of the original lots remain available.

The City of Garner received a $239,497 grant for the project from the 

Revitalize Iowa’s Sound Economy program. Corn Belt Power and Prairie 

Energy each approved up to $135,000 to contribute toward the three-

quarters of a million dollar expansion. Additional cash from the Prairie 

Energy Development, LLC fund will also support the project.

Construction work started in August and a contractor installed water, 

sanitary sewer and storm sewer infrastructure in the fall. Street 

construction will take place in the spring of 2017 and the park will be 

ready for new businesses by summer.

The Humboldt Business Park on the north side of Humboldt — served by 

Midland Power Cooperative — will also expand. Thirty acres of developed 

property offering eight new lots will join four existing lots in the park. 

Reclaimed for new development after a former fertilizer plant was 

removed in 2011, the Humboldt Business Park is located in a tax increment 

financing district. Tax monies from the development will make payments 

on a bond used to fund the $575,000 expansion.

Water and sewer work began in the fall of 2016. Street construction will 

begin in the spring of 2017.

Load Segmentation 
Report
Based on estimated  
kilowatt-hour sales

Swine
Poultry
Commercial/
Manufacturing
Ethanol/BioDiesel
Municipals
Residential/Other10+7+19+24+7+33+D

10%

7.5%

18%

24%

7.5%

33%

Humboldt Business Park, located on Midland Power Cooperative’s 
lines on the north side of Humboldt, will expand. A speculative 
building is located in the park and is for sale.
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Commercial and Industrial – New Load and Expansions
Christensen Farms, Garner – Trailer wash; 200 kilowatt load; served by Prairie Energy Cooperative

Prestage Foods of Iowa, Eagle Grove – Pork processing facility; 18.1 megawatt load; to come online 
2018, served by Prairie Energy Cooperative

G Force, Algona – Custom auto repair; served by Midland Power Cooperative

Smithfield, Algona – Feed mill; 600 kilowatt load; served by Midland Power Cooperative

Pine Lake Ethanol, Steamboat Rock – Ethanol; 3 megawatt expansion will double production; 
served by Midland Power Cooperative

Naturally Recycled Proteins, Steamboat Rock – Value-added processing; expansion; served by 
Midland Power Cooperative

Love’s Travel Stop, Ellsworth – New truck stop; 350 kilowatt load; served by City of Ellsworth with 
power supplied by Midland Power Cooperative

Best Veterinary Solutions, Ellsworth – New business; served by City of Ellsworth with power 
supplied by Midland Power Cooperative

AgSource Cooperative Services, Ellsworth – New business; 200 kilowatt load; served by City of 
Ellsworth with power supplied by Midland Power Cooperative

Spec building, Spirit Lake – 30,000-square-foot spec building; East Lake Industrial Park; served by 
Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative; Corn Belt Power is a financial partner

IGL Teleconnect, Spencer – Internet and telecommunications provider; 150 kilowatt load; served by 
Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Spencer Ag Center, Spencer – Feed and veterinary supply store; 75 kilowatt load; served by Iowa 
Lakes Electric Cooperative

VeroBlue Farms, Webster City – Urban fish farms; approximately 1.8 megawatt load; served by 
Webster City Municipal Utilities

Van Diest Family Health Clinic, Webster City – 200 kilowatt load; served by Webster City  
Municipal Utilities

Mary Ann’s Specialty Foods, Webster City – 30,000-square-foot expansion for new production 
lines; served by Webster City Municipal Utilities

Waspy’s Truck Stop, Templeton – 225 kilowatt load; served by Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative

Grundy County REC, Grundy Center – New office headquarters; served by Grundy County REC

American Equipment Company, Grundy Center – Ag and construction equipment; 20 kilowatt load; 
served by Grundy County REC

New lots in the Touchstone Energy Park at Garner, above in yellow, will create 
opportunity for new businesses to locate on Prairie Energy Cooperative’s lines.

Expansion of the Humboldt Business Park, 
above in dark green, is underway.
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Commercial  
and industrial  
development
Corn Belt Power’s member co-ops added several new loads and 

load expansions in 2016. (See list page 33.) New loads over 200 

kilowatts in size including livestock, industrial and ethanol, totaled 

13.5 megawatts. New loads under 200 kilowatts in size, including 

industrial, agricultural and housing, totaled 6.53 megawatts.

Corn Belt Power issued numerous loans from its Revolving Loan Fund 

and through the United States Department of Agriculture’s Rural 

Economic Development Loan and Grant program. (See list page 35.)

The Revolving Loan Fund has loaned out a total of $15.5 million. 

Projects receiving loan monies have created or retained close to 

2,000 jobs.

Throughout the year, Corn Belt Power’s staff continued to provide 

technical support for commercial and industrial/agricultural 

members, including thermography audits, heating, ventilation, and air 

conditioning evaluation and custom lighting calculations. 

In 2016, three businesses served by Corn Belt Power’s member co-ops 

received Venture Awards from the Iowa Area Development Group. 

Christensen Farms & Feedlots, Garner, a member of Prairie Energy 

Cooperative; Great Lakes Communications Corp, Spencer, a member 

of Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative; and Concrete Machinery Inc. of 

Iowa, Paton, a member of Midland Power Cooperative, all received 

honors Dec. 1 in West Des Moines.

The Revolving Loan Fund has loaned out 
a total of $15.5 million. Projects receiving 
loan monies have created or retained 
close to 2,000 jobs.

Representatives from several organizations, including Corn Belt 
Power Cooperative and Midland Power Cooperative, participate in the 

groundbreaking for AgSource Laboratories’ new building, Ellsworth.

Brittany Dickey, left, development finance 
director, Corn Belt Power Cooperative, and Vicki 

Daily, right, general manager, Grundy County 
REC, distribute loan  funds to Jay DeVries, co-
owner, Brothers Market 6, LLC, Grundy Center.

Corn Belt Power Cooperative and Prairie Energy 
Cooperative present loan funds to the owners of 

Mary Ann’s Specialty Foods, Webster City.
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2016 Revolving  
Loan Fund Activity 
REDL&G – Rural Economic Development Loan & Grant
REDG – Rural Economic Development Grant
IRP – Intermediary Relending Program
RLF – Revolving Loan Fund

Humboldt County Law Enforcement Center, Humboldt: 
• $360,000 REDG for renovation/addition; new E911 equipment
• Total project cost $1,170,684; creates two and a half jobs 

Kossuth County Hospital, Algona: 
• $360,000 REDG for renovation of Radiology Department, Information Technology,  

Health Information and Patient Financial Services 
• Total project cost $4,506,789.05; retains seven jobs 

Michael Douglas LLC, Clarion: 
• $150,000 RLF loan to help stock used inventory of merged car dealership
• $150,000 RLF from Prairie Energy Cooperative 
• Operating business is Wright County Motors; car dealership and repair shop 
• Merged with Clarion Auto Center, so that a franchised dealership could stay in Clarion 

Ellsworth Development Corporation, Ellsworth: 
• $325,000 REDL&G RLF loan to construct new 15,000-square-foot building for AgSource  

Laboratories in industrial park 
• Midland Power Cooperative also loaned $325,000 from its RLF 
• AgSource offers testing for water and waste water 
• Midland Power Cooperative serves the City of Ellsworth, which provides power to the project 

Mary Ann’s Specialty Foods, Webster City: 
• $200,000 IRP RLF loan for current and future food processing 
• Prairie Energy Cooperative loaned $100,000 from its RLF 
• City of Webster City loaned $500,000 and serves the project
• Company manufacturers and distributes smoked, cured and uncured meats 
• Project includes a 25,000-square-foot expansion to existing building; anticipated to add up to 10 

employees. 

Grundy Center Development Corporation, Grundy Center: 
• Loaned $150,000 from IRP RLFs to expand the Grundy Center Development Park by 25 acres
• Grundy County REC loaned $70,000 from its RLF and serves the project 

City of Garner, Garner: 
• $360,000 REDG for renovation/addition of current Garner Public Library ($300,000 grant and 

$60,000 matching funds from Corn Belt Power Cooperative)
• Will expand educational opportunities for community; retains two and a half jobs 

Spirit Lake Development Corporation, Spirit Lake: 
• Up to $240,000 REDL&G RLF for a new 30,000-square-foot speculative building
• Will be served by Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative in East Lake Industrial Park, Spirit Lake

Brothers Market 6, LLC, Grundy Center: 
• $150,000 REDL&G RLF toward the purchase, renovation and new equipment for grocery store in 

Grundy Center 
• $50,000 RLF loan from Grundy County REC 
• Project served by Grundy Center Municipal Utilities 

Corn Belt Power 
Generation  
Mix 2016*

Delivered to member systems

66+4+2+15+6+7+D
*  Estimated percentages comprise Basin Electric 

Power Cooperative’s and Western Area Power 

Administration’s generation supplies.

This information does not allow any cooperative 

member to claim environmental attributes of 

power supply since some renewable energy 

certificates are sold to improve the economics of 

the renewable generation. 

Coal 
Natural Gas 
Nuclear 
Renewable Other 
Purchase 
Renewable Hydro 

6.5%
6.8%

65.6%
4.2%1.6%

15.3%
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Grassroots outreach
Corn Belt Power joined electric cooperatives across 

the nation to cheer the U.S. Supreme Court’s 5-4 ruling 

released Feb. 9 that halted implementation of the 

Environmental Protection Agency’s Clean Power Plan 

regulations until litigation is concluded. The unexpected 

death of Supreme Court Justice Antonin Scalia just days 

after the court’s ruling left the future of the Clean Power 

Plan implementation uncertain. The election of Donald J. 

Trump as President adds additional questions about the 

future of the EPA’s regulations on existing power plant 

carbon emissions.

Representatives from Corn Belt Power actively participated 

in the Iowa Association of Electric Cooperatives’ Rural 

Power campaign in 2016, attending numerous events 

with presidential candidates and asking them about their 

plans to make sure Americans have affordable and reliable 

power. Candidate Carly Fiorina attended the Legislative 

Welcome Back Reception Jan. 12 in Des Moines and Sen. 

Ted Cruz spoke during a campaign rally in Humboldt Jan. 7. 

Co-op directors and staff members met with state 

legislators during REC Day on the Hill March 16 in  

Des Moines. They voiced support for utility-scale solar 

incentives and legislation focused on safety of electric  

co-op personnel.

Concerns about the Clean Power Plan topped the list 

of issues discussed with senators and congressmen in 

Washington, D.C., during visits in May and September.  

Co-ops also thanked legislators for their help getting 

disaster funding that the Federal Emergency Management 

Agency previously denied.

Sen. Ted Cruz campaigns in Humboldt in January.
Dale Schaefer, left, director, Corn Belt Power Cooperative, 
along with other electric co-op representatives, meet with 
Congressman David Young in Washington, D.C., in September.
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2015 2016
Total Energy Sales 1,889,713,813 kWh 1,961,557,697 kWh

System Peak Demand * 310,138 kW 312,484 kW

Miles of Transmission Lines ** 1,751 1,767

Distribution Substations 151 152

Employees 90 90

Corn Belt Power Cooperative 2016 Highlights 

Sec. Hillary Clinton 
campaigns in Iowa and 
meets with electric 
co-op representatives 
wearing their green 
Rural Power shirts.

Rick Olesen, center, president/CEO, Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative, 
and Jerry Beck, right, director, Corn Belt Power Cooperative 
and Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative, meet with State Sen. Tim 
Kraayenbrink at the Iowa State Capitol in Des Moines during REC 
Day on the Hill March 16.

Donald Trump, candidate for President, meets with 
representatives from Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative and 
North West REC during a campaign stop in northern Iowa.

*Losses reduced in 2016 due to membership in Southwest Power Pool
**Includes jointly owned transmission lines
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Touchstone Energy
In 2016, Corn Belt Power and its member cooperatives 

created an online toolbox with messages about energy-

efficient building techniques. Short videos feature Bill 

McAnally, building science consultant, demonstrating 

proper building techniques and answering commonly asked 

questions. Topics include building site selection, picking 

a contractor, lighting, heat pumps and proper window 

installation. View videos at bit.ly/BIR2016.

As a Touchstone Energy regional representative, Corn Belt 

Power offered the new “Road to Member Engagement” 

training to its member cooperatives during the year.  The 

training covers information about advantages of the 

cooperative business model and the power of the Touchstone 

Energy network.

Corn Belt Power placed Touchstone Energy advertising for 

its member co-ops in a new way in 2016. Instead of airing 

on television, the Touchstone Energy videos appeared 

online so members could view the spots as they searched 

for information on the Internet. The local co-op name 

tagged videos in each service territory. The “Your Source” 

ad campaign positions co-ops as trusted resources for 

information on all types of energy issues.

Corn Belt Power and its member co-ops promoted the 

Touchstone Energy brand at several venues throughout the 

year, including the Momentum is Building conference Feb. 

11-12 in West Des Moines; the Iowa State Fair Aug. 11-21 in 

Des Moines; the Farm Progress Show Aug. 30-Sept. 1 near 

Boone; and the Clay County Fair Sept. 10-18 in Spencer. Corn 

Belt Power and Northwest Iowa Power Cooperative jointly 

sponsored a summer training for co-op staff about how best 

to promote energy efficiency to members.

Other projects included a postcard mailer promoting 

geothermal heat pumps to members with older heating 

systems or who use propane as heating fuel. The postcard 

alerted members that federal tax incentives were scheduled 

to expire at the end of 2016. A mailer that educated members 

about the advantages of light-emitting diode bulbs received 

a Gold Award in NRECA’s 2016 Spotlight on Excellence 

competition for Best Special Publication – Small.

Corn Belt Power continued its support of local communities 

throughout the year, providing donations to charitable groups 

and matching its co-ops’ local contributions. Corn Belt Power 

sponsors Iowa State University’s Electric Power Research 

Center, the Fulfilling Iowa’s Need for Dentists project and 

Kiddie Cats Child Care, Humboldt.

Corn Belt Power Cooperative shows its commitment to community 
in its donation to Kiddie Cats Child Care Center, Humboldt.

Bill McAnally, center, building science consultant, 
shines a light on an air duct while Roger Hammen, 
right, member service representative, Midland Power 
Cooperative, discusses the proper way to seal the 
duct, during a taping of a segment for the “Build It 
Right Online Toolbox” videos.

Jim Sayers, energy services director, and Marena 
Fritzler, graphic designer, display Corn Belt Power 
Cooperative’s first place Gold Award in NRECA’s 
Spotlight on Excellence in the Best Publication-
Small category.
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“On the Safe Side”
30-second video
Radio communication. Music plays.
Voice over:

“Nobody knows electrical safety better than  
the experts who practice it every single day.
That’s why your Touchstone Energy 
Cooperative is always there.

To teach your family how to stay on  
the safe side.

No matter what comes their way.

Helping members use electricity  
safely. That’s the power of your  
co-op membership.

Learn more at togetherwesave.com.”

Corn Belt Power Cooperative and its member cooperatives promote the 
Touchstone Energy brand by placing videos online. This ad features a 

safety message about staying away from downed power lines.
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Corn Belt  
Power Board  
of Directors
Longtime director Ronald Deiber retired from the Corn Belt 

Power board of directors in August after 36 years of service to 

the cooperative. Representing the North Iowa Municipal Electric 

Cooperative Association (NIMECA) since 1980, Deiber helped guide 

the cooperative through many important decisions and projects, 

including retiring the Humboldt Generating Station, adding wind 

energy to the generating portfolio, building Wisdom Unit 2, maintaining 

ownership of the Duane Arnold Energy Center, joining Basin Electric as 

a Class A member and repowering Wisdom Unit 1. 

Brad Honold, manager, Coon Rapids Municipal Utilities, and president, 

NIMECA board of directors, joined the Corn Belt Power board of directors 

Aug. 30 as NIMECA’s representative. New board officers elected Aug. 30  

are Scott Stecher, vice president; and Jerry Beck, secretary. Donald 

Feldman, president; David Onken, treasurer; and Dale Schaefer, assistant 

secretary/treasurer, continue in their offices.

Donald Feldman 
President, Butler County REC

Scott Stecher 
Vice President, Prairie Energy 

Cooperative 

Jerry Beck 
Secretary, Iowa Lakes Electric 

Cooperative 

David Onken 
Treasurer, Raccoon Valley Electric 

Cooperative

Ronald Deiber completes 36 years 
of service to the Corn Belt Power 
Cooperative board of directors in 2016.
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Dale Schaefer 
Assistant Secretary/Treasurer, 

Franklin REC

Terry Finley 
Calhoun County REC

Charles Gilbert 
Basin Electric Power Cooperative 

representative, Midland Power 
Cooperative 

Brad Honold 
North Iowa Municipal Electric  

Cooperative Association 

Larry Rohach 
Grundy County REC 

Member 
Systems
Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative
Midland Power Cooperative
Boone Valley Electric Cooperative
Prairie Energy Cooperative
Franklin REC
Butler County REC
Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative
Calhoun County REC
Grundy County REC
North Iowa Municipal Electric  
Cooperative Association (NIMECA) 
(Serving municipal utilities of Algona, Alta, 
Bancroft, Coon Rapids, Graettinger, Grundy 
Center, Laurens, Milford, New Hampton, Spencer, 
Sumner, Webster City and West Bend.)
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Human resources
I Act University held several sessions throughout the year to improve employee 

communication and enhance work performance, including instruction on the 

importance of giving feedback for effective communication. 

PeopleWorks, Inc., conducted an employee satisfaction survey in June to help the 

cooperative identify what makes Corn Belt Power a good place to work and what 

areas can be improved to make it even better. Satisfaction levels scored highest 

in variety of work responsibilities; relationship with co-workers; and relationship 

with direct supervisors. Employees expressed the desire to increase the amount of 

communication they receive. 

Wisdom Station employees, from  
left, Mike Thatcher, Patrick Connor, 
Darwin Johnson and Dan Amato, 
participate in the I Act training  
“Powerful Feedback: Giving and 
Receiving It.”

Brian Gibson, chief system operator, explains how the 
newly remodeled control center at the cooperative’s 
headquarters improves operation efficiency.
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Department Heads Human Resources 
2016 
New employees
Reed Dreyer Apprentice Lineman

Jacob Howey Communications Technician

Jake McCullough Apprentice Electrician

Kerri Mertz Executive Assistant

Sam Moore Accountant I

Updates
Connor Almond  Apprentice Lineman to  

Journeyman Lineman

Matt Donald  Apprentice Electrician to 
Journeyman Electrician

Andrew Hansen  Accountant I to Accounting and 
Billing Analyst

Brad Hill  Communications Technician to 
Communications Superintendent

Mitch Thompson  Apprentice Electrician to 
Journeyman Electrician

Service Awards
Jerry Moritz  System Electrical Superintendent,  

45 Years

Kevin Bornhoft  Vice President, Engineering and 
System Operations, 35 Years

Lance Tinken Meter Technician, 30 Years

Darwin Johnson Shift Operator, 25 Years

Kurt Olson  Warehouse and Fleet Supervisor,  
15 Years

Steve DePauw Control Operator, 10 Years

Travis Hefty Line Foreman, 10 Years

Steve Smith Control Operator, 10 Years

Tyler Herrig Electronics Technician, 5 Years

Ethan Miller Journeyman Lineman, 5 Years

Retirements
Diane Wempen Executive Assistant

Ken Kuyper 
Executive Vice President 

and General Manager

Karen Berte 
Senior Vice President, 

Finance and Administration

Kevin Bornhoft 
Vice President, Engineering 

and System Operations

Kathy Taylor 
Vice President,  

Corporate Relations

Mike Thatcher 
Vice President,  

Generation

Jim Vermeer 
Vice President,  

Business Development
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Corn Belt Power Cooperative is a generation and transmission electric 
cooperative owned by its member systems. Corn Belt Power provides 
electricity to nine member cooperatives and one member municipal 
cooperative that serve farms, rural residences, small towns and 
commercial and industrial members in 41 counties in northern Iowa.
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FINANCIALS
Corn Belt Power Cooperative

D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 1 6  A N D  2 0 1 5
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors 
Corn Belt Power Cooperative:

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Corn Belt Power Cooperative, which comprise the balance 
sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related statements of revenue and expenses, comprehensive income, 
membership capital, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and in accordance with the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Corn Belt Power Cooperative as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 6, 2017 on our 
consideration of Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s internal control over financing reporting and on our test of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report 
is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance with the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Corn Belt Power 
Cooperative’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

KPMG LLP 
Omaha, Nebraska 
March 6, 2017
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ASSETS 2016 2015 

ELECTRIC PLANT:

In service  $    500,874,431  491,811,594 

Less-accumulated depreciation (246,973,261) (238,015,174)

253,901,170 253,796,420

Construction work in progress 13,750,190 11,932,764

Nuclear fuel, net of amortization 9,901,040 9,862,020

277,552,400 275,591,204

OTHER PROPERTY AND INVESTMENTS:

Nonutility property 206,158 217,566

Investment in the National Rural Utilities Cooperative
Finance Corporation (NRUCFC) 4,712,586 4,701,737

Decommissioning funds 45,929,207 42,328,998

Other investments 44,846,996 32,842,146

Special funds 1,164,199 1,169,423

Notes receivable 7,047,755 5,845,425

Other assets 1,144,076 1,293,782

105,050,977 88,399,077

DEFERRED CHARGES:

DAEC regulatory asset 2,582,092 2,732,505

Decommissioning regulatory asset 34,062,385 31,224,422

Pension prepayment 372,581 962,826

37,017,058 34,919,753

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 4,993,450 7,364,679

Special funds  -    2,824,988 

Member accounts receivable 13,378,573 9,964,561

Other receivables 1,906,263 1,270,827

Inventories:

Fuel 7,708,352 5,799,284

Materials and supplies 10,998,422 10,903,943

Prepayments 246,746 466,720

39,231,806 38,595,002

 $    458,852,241  437,505,036 
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(continued)See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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MEMBERSHIP CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES 2016 2015 

MEMBERSHIP CAPITAL:  

 Memberships, at $100 per membership  $               1,100 1,100

 Deferred patronage dividends, restricted  61,997,971 46,864,695

 Other equities  57,688,322 55,845,414

 Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,407,592 1,537,606

124,094,985 104,248,815

LONG-TERM DEBT:

 Federal Financing Bank  185,689,214 195,111,068

 Revenue bonds 13,581,667  14,013,333 

 NRUCFC 4,741,046 5,798,158

 CoBank 5,582,500  6,352,500 

 USDA intermediary relending program  5,128,083 4,395,578

214,722,510 225,670,637

 Less - Current maturities of long-term debt  13,428,433 13,494,271

201,294,077 212,176,366

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

 DAEC decommissioning liability   75,584,000 71,985,000

 Ash landfill retirement obligation 1,702,057 1,511,948

77,286,057 73,496,948

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

 Current maturities of long-term debt   13,428,433 13,494,271

 Short-term debt   30,000,000 20,000,000

 Accounts payable  8,826,876 7,695,428

 Accrued property and other taxes  3,074,197 3,279,104

 Deferred credits  7,985  2,353,759 

 Accrued interest and other 839,631 760,345

56,177,122 47,582,907

 $   458,852,241  437,505,036 
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2016 2015 

OPERATING REVENUE: 

 Sale of electric energy  $    131,256,704 121,885,755

 Lease revenue  -   1,080,568

 Other  14,990,578 7,103,612

146,247,282 130,069,935

OPERATING EXPENSES: 

 Operation: 

 Steam and other power generation  31,985,271 37,277,959

 Purchased power, net  65,904,610 46,970,845

 Transmission 5,959,464 8,491,385

 Sales  2,698,869 2,795,272

 Administrative and general 3,594,261 4,201,530

 Maintenance:  

 Steam and other power generation  7,579,932 6,257,163

 Transmission  2,000,989 2,102,027

 General Plant  212,200 122,644

 Depreciation and decommissioning   12,032,232 12,073,986

 Gain on the disposition of property  (3) (1,697)

Total operating expenses 131,967,825 120,291,114

Net operating revenue 14,279,457 9,778,821

INTEREST AND OTHER DEDUCTIONS: 

 Interest on long-term debt  8,747,033 9,070,965

 Interest during construction  (128,900) (52,622)

 Other interest and deductions  436,467 296,558

Total interest and other deductions 9,054,600 9,314,901

Net operating margin 5,224,857 463,920

NONOPERATING MARGIN: 

 Interest and dividend income  352,009 598,497

 Patronage income 12,287,131 4,480,520

 Other, net   169,150 440,503

Total nonoperating margin 12,808,290 5,519,520

Net margin  $      18,033,147  5,983,440 

Statem
ents of Revenue and Expenses
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2016 2015 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
 Net margin  $    18,033,147 5,983,440

 Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash provided by operating activities: 

 Depreciation and decommissioning 12,032,232 12,073,986

 Amortization of nuclear fuel 3,817,345 3,927,408

 Amortization of pension prepayment  590,245  1,518,083 

 Undistributed patronage earnings from other investments (11,933,508) (4,053,495)

 Changes in current assets and liabilities: 

    Receivables (4,049,448) 230,442

    Inventories  (2,003,547) (1,204,431)

    Prepayments  219,974 (3,676)

    Accounts payable 940,013 1,159,307

    Accrued property and other taxes  (204,907) 1,030,719

    Deferred credits (2,345,774) 352,135

    Accrued interest and other 79,286 (24,400)

       Net cash provided by operating activities  15,175,058 20,989,518

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
 Additions to electric plant, net (13,422,451) (11,442,913)

 Additions to nuclear fuel (3,856,365) (2,757,689)

 Sale of nonutility plant  11,408  -   

 Deductions/(additions) to decommissioning fund  61,628  (135,975)

 Distributions from special funds 17,566,170 21,026,480

 Additions to special funds (14,766,772) (14,682,216)

 Additions to other investments, other assets, investments in  NRUCFC, and notes receivable (1,104,368) (270,102)

       Net cash used in investing activities (15,510,750) (8,262,415)

2016 2015 

Net margin  $     18,033,147  5,983,440 

Change in unrealized gain in fair value of investments 2,869,986  (6,450,522)

 Comprehensive income  $     20,903,133  (467,082)

Statements of Cash Flows
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 1 6  A N D  2 0 1 5

Statements of Comprehensive  Income
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 1 6  A N D  2 0 1 5  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(continued)
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Other Equities

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Deferred
patronage
dividends

Statutory
surplus

Reserve for
contingent

lossesTotal Membership

Balance, December 31, 2014  $ 105,762,490  1,100  42,377,200  14,050,000  41,346,062  7,988,128 

2015 net margin  5,983,440  -    5,534,088  200,000  249,352  -   

Revenue deferred  
patronage dividends  19,407  -    19,407  -    -    -   

Change in unrealized gain in  
fair value of investments  (6,450,522)  -    -    -    -    (6,450,522)

Patronage dividends paid  (1,066,000)  -    (1,066,000)  -    -    -   

Balance, December 31, 2015  104,248,815  1,100  46,864,695  14,250,000  41,595,414  1,537,606 

2016 net margin  18,033,147  -    16,190,239  1,842,908  -    -   

Revenue deferred  
patronage dividends  30,447  -    30,447  -    -    -   

 Change in unrealized gain in  
fair value of investments  2,869,986  -    -    -    -    2,869,986 

Patronage dividends paid  (1,087,410)  -    (1,087,410)  -    -    -   

Balance, December 31, 2016  $ 124,094,985  1,100  61,997,971  16,092,908  41,595,414  4,407,592 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statements of Membership Capital
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 1 6  A N D  2 0 1 5  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

 Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  2,565,000 6,656,000

 Repayment of long-term debt (13,513,127) (13,541,269)

 Funds advanced short-term borrowings 11,000,000 3,000,000

 Funds repaid short-term borrowings (1,000,000) (9,000,000)

 Patronage dividends paid   (1,087,410)  (1,066,000)

       Net cash used in financing activities  (2,035,537) (13,951,269)

       Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (2,371,229) (1,224,166)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT: 

 Beginning of year 7,364,679 8,588,845

 End of year  $    4,993,450 7,364,679
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(1)  Organization

  Corn Belt Power Cooperative (the Cooperative) is a Rural Utilities Service (RUS) financed generation and transmission 
cooperative created and owned by nine distribution cooperatives and one municipal cooperative association. 
Electricity supplied by the Cooperative serves farms, small towns, and commercial and industrial businesses in 
northern Iowa. 

  The Cooperative’s Board of Directors (Board of Directors) is composed of one representative from each member 
cooperative and is responsible for, among other things, establishing rates charged to the member cooperatives.

(2)  Significant Accounting Policies

  The Cooperative maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts as prescribed 
by the RUS. The financial statements and the accompanying notes to the financial statements have been prepared in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The significant accounting policies are as follows:  

 (a) Regulatory Matters

     The Cooperative’s utility operations are subject to provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 980, Regulated Operations. Therefore, its utility operations 
recognize the effects of rate regulation by the Board of Directors and, accordingly, have recorded regulated 
assets to reflect the impact of regulatory items for which future rates will be increased to recover and regulated 
liabilities for revenue deferred at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The regulatory assets are included 
within deferred charges and the regulatory liabilities are included within deferred credits on the balance sheets. 

 (b) Electric Plant

     Electric plant is stated at original cost, which includes payroll and related benefits and interest during the period 
of construction.

    Costs in connection with repairs of properties and replacement of items less than a unit of property are charged to 
maintenance expense. Additions to and replacements of units of property are charged to electric plant accounts.

    Depreciation is provided using straight-line methods and RUS-prescribed lives. These provisions, excluding 
nuclear facilities, were equivalent to a composite depreciation rate on gross plant of 2.51% and 2.55% for 2016 and 
2015, respectively.

    Under a joint-ownership agreement, the Cooperative has a 10% undivided interest in the Duane Arnold Energy 
Center (DAEC), a nuclear-fueled generating station, which was placed in service in 1974. The Cooperative is 
depreciating its interest in the DAEC and each year’s property additions subsequent to 1984 on a straight-line 
basis over the remaining term of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) license for DAEC. The composite 
depreciation rate on gross plant for DAEC was 1.72% and 1.65% for 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

 (c) Decommissioning of DAEC

    The Cooperative recognizes and estimates an asset retirement obligation (ARO) for its 10% share of the estimated 
cost to decommission DAEC. An NRC estimate of the decommissioning costs of DAEC was performed in 2008, 
and updated in 2010. This report estimated the Cooperative’s share of the decommissioning costs of DAEC to be 
approximately $76,159,700 (in 2008 dollars). The Cooperative is providing for overall nuclear decommissioning costs 
using a funding method designed to accumulate a decommissioning reserve sufficient to cover the Cooperative’s 
share of decommissioning costs by 2034, the year in which the license expires.

    The total fair value of the decommissioning funds accumulated at December 31, 2016 was $45,929,207, of 
which $28,819,363 has been placed in a fund legally restricted for use in decommissioning DAEC. The remaining 
$17,109,844, while not legally restricted, has been designated by the Cooperative for use in decommissioning 
DAEC. The total fair value of the decommissioning funds accumulated at December 31, 2015 was $42,328,998, of 
which $26,528,214 has been placed in a fund legally restricted for use in decommissioning DAEC. The remaining 
$15,800,784, while not legally restricted, has been designated by the Cooperative for use in decommissioning DAEC.
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    Decommissioning investments were classified as available-for-sale securities and are reported at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses included as a component of comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2016 and 
2015, available-for-sale securities consisted of the following:  

Amortized
cost

Unrealized
gains

Unrealized
losses 

Fair
value

2016

Corporate bonds and fixed income funds  $      2,234,575 67,708 58,173 2,244,110

Common and preferred stock and funds 30,730,496 5,969,578 942,675 35,757,399

Hedge funds 10,567  26,553  4,903 32,217

Cash and cash equivalents 710,850  -  - 710,850

Foreign investments - common stock 7,456,070  116,544  747,659 6,824,955

Foreign investments - government funds  381,546  5,394  27,264  359,676 

 $     41,524,104  6,185,777  1,780,674  45,929,207 

2015

Obligations of U.S. government and agencies  $        385,234  5,033  3,940 386,327

Corporate bonds and fixed income funds 1,991,242  7,352  132,097 1,866,497

Common and preferred stock and funds 30,081,222  5,003,432  2,046,971 33,037,683

Hedge funds 95,964  -  - 95,964

Cash and cash equivalents 573,039  -  - 573,039

Foreign investments - common stock 7,453,478  9,872  1,252,882 6,210,468

Foreign investments - government funds 180,399  -  21,379 159,020

 $    40,760,578  5,025,689  3,457,269  42,328,998 

    Realized gains and losses from the available-for-sale securities are determined on a specific-identification basis. 
Realized gains/(losses) on investments available-for-sale were ($30,906) and $4,098,649 for 2016 and 2015, 
respectively. These gains/(losses) result in a reclassification from AOCI to the decommissioning regulatory asset.

    The following tables show the gross unrealized losses and fair value of the Cooperative’s investments with 
unrealized losses aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a 
continuous unrealized loss position, at December 31.

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

2016 Fair value
Unrealized

losses Fair value
Unrealized

losses Fair value
Unrealized

losses

Corporate bonds $        17,902  (127) 1,008,553 (58,046)   1,026,455   (58,173)

Common and preferred  
stock and funds 3,483,663 (187,599) 4,569,852 (755,076)  8,053,515  (942,675)

Hedge funds  -    (4,903)  -    -    -    (4,903)

Foreign investments -  
common stock 253,877 (2,410) 5,232,495  (745,249)  5,486,372  (747,659)

Foreign investments - 
government  12,465  (85)  206,352  (27,179)  218,817  (27,264)

$   3,767,907  (195,124)  11,017,252  (1,585,550)  14,785,159  (1,780,674)

N
otes to Financial Statem

ents
D

E
C

E
M

B
E

R
 3

1, 2
0

16
 A

N
D

 2
0

15



2016       Financials       Never Stop Getting Better54

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

2015 Fair value
Unrealized

losses Fair value
Unrealized

losses Fair value
Unrealized

losses

Obligations of U.S.  
government and agencies $       119,359 (1,634)  190,592  (2,306)  309,951  (3,940)

Corporate bonds 747,027 (9,959) 1,176,062 (122,138)  1,923,089  (132,097)

Common and preferred  
stock and funds 12,164,716 (790,185) 5,480,364 (1,256,786)  17,645,080  (2,046,971)

Foreign investments -  
common stock 963,389 (95,795) 4,962,852  (1,157,087)  5,926,241  (1,252,882)

Foreign investments -
 government  -   -   159,020  (21,379)  159,020  (21,379)

 $  13,994,491  (897,573)  11,968,890  (2,559,696)  25,963,381  (3,457,269)

    In evaluation of the other-than-temporary impairment, the Cooperative considers its intent and ability to hold 
these investments for a period of time sufficient to allow for the anticipated recovery in the market value of 
these investments, which may be maturity, the severity of the decline, and the length of time and the extent to 
which fair value has been below cost. The Cooperative does not consider these investments to be other-than-
temporarily impaired at December 31, 2016 and 2015.  

 (d)  Nuclear Fuel

    The cost of nuclear fuel is amortized to steam and other power generation expenses based on the quantity of heat 
produced for the generation of electric energy.  Such amortization was $3,817,345 and $3,927,408 for 2016 and 2015, 
respectively.

 (e)  Other Investments

    Other investments consist of funds held in trust (mainly from patronage income), cash held for the Cooperative’s 
intermediary relending program (note 9), and common and preferred stock. These investments are carried at cost 
and are reviewed annually for impairment. The Cooperative determined there were no impairments related to 
Other Investments for the years then ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

 (f)  Special Funds

    Investments held in special funds are either classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses included as a component of comprehensive income or at their carrying amounts, 
which approximate fair value because of the short maturity of the investments.

 (g)  Inventories

    Inventories consist of fuel (primarily coal), emission allowances, and materials and supplies. The cost for 
inventories is determined on a weighted-average cost basis.

    The 1990 Clean Air Act (the Act) established the requirement for fossil fuel electric generating plants to hold 
sulfur dioxide (SO2) emission allowances under the Acid Rain Program (ARP). In 2015, the Cross-State Air 
Pollution Rule (CSAPR) established an additional SO2 allowance requirement along with adding nitrogen oxide 
(NOx) annual and seasonal allowances. The Act and CSAPR allocate a certain number of emission allowances to 
owners of fossil fuel generating plants that are affected by the rules and established corresponding APR SO2, 
CSAPR SO2, CSAPR NOx annual and CSAPR NOx seasonal emission allowance trading programs. Emission 
allowances that have been granted to the Cooperative as a result of the Act and CSAPR do not have any cost, and 
therefore, the use of these emission allowances does not result in expense. From time to time, the Cooperative 
will purchase a quantity of each type of emission allowance to ensure an adequate number of allowances are held. 
The purchased allowances are combined with the allocated allowances to derive an average allowance cost each 
year for each type of emission allowance. Emission allowances purchased are capitalized in inventory and are 
charged to fuel expense as they are used in operations.
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  (h)  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
     Accumulated other comprehensive income represents the net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities held 

for decommissioning of DAEC and special funds.

 (i)  Interest During Construction
    Interest during construction represents the cost of funds used for construction and nuclear fuel refinement. The 

average rate was 1.66% and 1.40% for 2016 and 2015, respectively, and is based on the Cooperative’s costs of financing.

 (j)  Income Taxes
     The Cooperative is exempt from federal and state income taxes under sections 501(c)(12) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been included in the Cooperative’s financial statements. The Cooperative 
recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. 
Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. 
Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

 (k)  Statements of Cash Flows
    For the purpose of reporting cash flows, the Cooperative considers investments purchased with a maturity of 

three months or less to be cash equivalents, except for investments held as part of the decommissioning fund. 
Cash paid for interest was $8,747,033 and $9,088,948 for 2016 and 2015, respectively.

 (l)  Operating Revenues and Cost of Power
     The Cooperative recognizes sales of electric energy and the related cost of electric energy produced or purchased 

when energy is delivered to customers.

 (m) Notes Receivable
     The Cooperative determines any impairment of notes receivable based on various factors that ultimately are used 

to calculate collectability. As part of the review, the Cooperative reviews the terms of the original note, nature of the 
transaction, history of repayment, and knowledge of borrower’s financial strength. No impairments we indicated for 
the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

 (n)  Major Maintenance Activities
     The Cooperative incurs maintenance costs on its major equipment. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as 

incurred.

 (o) Long-Lived Assets
     Long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization, 

are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
an asset may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group be tested for possible 
impairment, the Cooperative first compares undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or 
asset group to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable 
on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds its 
fair value. There were no impairments of long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

(3)   Agreements with Basin Electric Power Cooperative 
  On September 1, 2009, the Cooperative became a Class A member of Basin Electric Power Cooperative (Basin Electric). 
As part of this agreement, energy and capacity needs of the Cooperative above the Western Area Power Administration 
allocation and a separate 50 MW power purchase agreement with Basin Electric are to be provided by Basin Electric at 
Class A member rates. Further, the Cooperative sells the energy from its generation facilities at cost to Basin Electric, 
but continues to own and be responsible for those facilities. Also, a portion of the 161 kV transmission system that is 
contiguous with Basin Electric was leased to Basin Electric until October 1, 2015 when the Cooperative and Basin Electric 
entered Southwest Power Pool (SPP). During 2016 and 2015, respectively, as part of these agreements, the Cooperative 
purchased $95,709,120 and $82,323,865 of power and sold $64,908,442 and $69,497,910 of power to Basin Electric, 
which is recorded in the purchased power, net, in the statements of revenue and expenses.
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(4)  Fair Value Measurements

 (a)  Fair Value of Financial Instruments
     The following describes the carrying amounts and estimated fair value of financial instruments and the methods 

and assumptions that were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

    Cash and cash equivalents, member accounts receivable, other receivables, certain special funds, short-term 
debt, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities - The carrying amounts, at face value or cost plus accrued interest, 
approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

    Investment in the National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation, other investments, and notes 
receivable - These accounts are recorded at cost. The Cooperative believes that the carrying value of these 
investments approximates fair value as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 due to the nature and interest rate of the 
accounts compared to market rates.

    Decommissioning funds - The investments within the decommissioning funds and certain special funds are 
recorded at fair value. Equity securities classified as available-for-sale are measured using quoted market prices 
at the reporting date multiplied by the quantity held. Debt securities classified as available-for-sale are measured 
using quoted market prices multiplied by the quantity held when quoted market prices are available. If quoted 
market prices are not available, the fair values are estimated using pricing models, quoted prices of similar 
securities with similar characteristics, or discounted cash flow.  For hedge funds and managed future funds where 
no readily ascertainable market value exists, management, in consultation with investment advisors, values these 
investments in good faith at net asset value based upon the investment’s current financial statements or other 
information provided by the underlying investment advisor.

 (b)  Fair Value Hierarchy

    ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements 
involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are 
as follows:

    Level 1 - Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the  
Cooperative has the ability to access at the measurement date.

    Level 2 - Inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

    Level 3 - Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

     The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair value measurement in its entirety falls is based on the  
lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

    The following tables present assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 
31, 2016 and 2015.
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Fair value measurements at December 31, 2016 using

December 31 
2016

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 

identical assets  
(Level 1)

Significant other 
observable  

inputs  
(Level 2) 

Significant  
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) 

Assets:

Special funds:

Cash and cash equivalents  $                3,841 3,841  -   -

Certificates of deposit 43,752  -   43,752 -

Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies 1,116,606  -  1,116,606 -

Decommissioning fund:

Corporate bonds 2,244,110  -   2,244,110 -

Common and preferred stock and funds 35,757,399 35,757,399  -  -

Foreign investments - government funds  359,676  359,676  -  -

Foreign investments - common stock  6,824,955  6,824,955  -  -

Cash and cash equivalents  710,850  710,850  -   -

Subtotal  $        47,061,189  43,656,721  3,404,468 -

Hedge funds at net asset value  32,217     

Total  $       47,093,406 

Fair value measurements at December 31, 2015 using

December 31  
2015

Quoted prices in 
active markets for  

identical assets  
(Level 1)

Significant other 
observable  

inputs  
(Level 2) 

Significant  
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) 

Assets:

Special funds:

Cash and cash equivalents  $            478,351 478,351  -   -

Commercial paper 2,384,295 2,384,295  -   -

Certificates of deposit 43,752  -   43,752 -

Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies 1,088,013  -     1,088,013 -

Decommissioning fund:

Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies 386,327  -    386,327 -

Corporate bonds 1,866,497  -    1,866,497 -

Common and preferred stock and funds 33,037,683 33,037,683  -  -

Foreign investments - government funds  159,020  159,020  -  -

Foreign investments - common stock  6,210,468 6,210,468  -  -

Cash and cash equivalents  573,039 573,039  -   -

Subtotal  $       46,227,445  42,842,856  3,384,589 -

Hedge funds at net asset value  95,964     

Total  $       46,323,409
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  The Cooperative has an investment of $4,712,586 and $4,701,737 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, with 
the NRUCFC. This investment is required in order to allow the Cooperative to borrow funds from NRUCFC. The 
investment earns interest of 5.0% on $2,000,000, which matures in 2044, 5.0% on $2,195,507, which matures between 
2070 and 2080, and 3.0% on $121,789, which matures in 2025. The remaining balance of $395,290 does not earn 
interest.

  Notes receivable consist of notes to member cooperatives and other businesses to assist in economic development 
of qualifying industrial sites, speculative buildings, rural housing, and certain joint venture projects. Interest rates on 
these notes receivable range from 0% to 5%. The majority of these notes are generally due under 10-year agreements 
with payments due monthly on a ratable basis. There are no notes receivable past due, or in default as of December 
31, 2016 and 2015. The Cooperative reviews the need for reserve for uncollected accounts based on payment activity, 
historical collection rates, and collateral on the note. The Cooperative has determined no reserves were necessary at 
December 31, 2016 and 2015.

  Funds held in trust consist mainly of deferred patronage dividends related to the Cooperative’s membership in other 
cooperatives. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, $42,669,729 and $30,736,221 relates to the Cooperative’s deferred 
patronage dividends related to Basin Electric.

(6) Deferred Patronage Dividends and Other Equities

  In accordance with the Iowa Code, the Board of Directors is required to allocate a portion of the current year’s net 
margin to statutory surplus until the statutory surplus equals 30% of total membership capital. No additions can 
be made to statutory surplus whenever it exceeds 50% of total membership capital. In 2016 and 2015, the Board of 
Directors appropriated $1,842,908 and $200,000 of net margins to statutory surplus, respectively.

The above investments are included in the accompanying balance sheets as follows:

2016 2015 

Investment in NRUCFC  $       4,712,586 4,701,737

Notes receivable  7,047,755 5,845,425

Other investments  44,846,996 32,842,146

Other assets  1,144,076 1,293,782

 $      57,751,413  44,683,090 

   There were no transfers between levels during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. The debt securities 
classified as available-for-sale were due to mature within one year as of December 31, 2016.

(5)   Investment in the National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (NRUCFC), Notes Receivable, and  
Other Investments

 The Cooperative has investments carried at cost in the following:

2016 2015 

Common and preferred stock  $          448,464 439,776

Funds held in trust 43,286,386 31,291,229

Restricted cash 2,256,222 2,404,923

Investment in NRUCFC  4,712,586 4,701,737

Economic development notes receivable 7,047,755 5,845,425

 $       57,751,413  44,683,090 
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  National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (NRECA) pension prepayment - In March 2013, the Cooperative 
made a payment of $4,371,946 to the NRECA Retirement Security Plan (RS Plan). The Cooperative is amortizing 
this amount over a period not to exceed 10 years. Interest expense associated with the prepayment loan is being 
accounted for in accordance with the RUS Uniform System of Accounts (note 15).

  DAEC Regulatory Asset - In 2008, the Cooperative, with Board of Directors approval, established a regulatory asset 
in conjunction with the deferral of depreciation costs related to the DAEC until the extension of the plant license had 
been approved by the NRC. The plant license was approved in December 2010, and accordingly, the Cooperative 
began amortizing the assets over the remaining life of the license through 2034.

  Decommissioning Regulatory Asset - In connection with the costs related to decommissioning of DAEC, the 
Cooperative has established a regulatory asset in conjunction with recording of the decommissioning liability. This 
regulatory asset is the difference between the decommissioning liability and the fair value of the investments in the 
decommissioning funds.

  Deferred Credit - In 2015, the Cooperative’s Board of Directors established a deferred credit of $2,350,000 which 
was returned to members in the form of reduced revenue requirements. The revenue deferral was set aside in a cash 
account to cover expenditures in 2016.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, deferred regulatory debits and credits consisted of the following:

2016 2015 

Deferred regulatory assets:

NRECA pension prepayment  $         372,581 962,826

DAEC regulatory asset  2,582,092 2,732,505

Decommissioning regulatory asset  34,062,385 31,224,422

 $    37,017,058  34,919,753 

Deferred regulatory credits:

Deferred credit  $             7,985  2,353,759 

  The equity-designated reserve for contingent losses in the statements of membership capital is an appropriation of 
equity by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors appropriated $0 and $249,352 of net margin to reserve for 
contingent losses in 2016 and 2015, respectively. There is no statutory restriction of this equity.

  The Board of Directors is permitted by the Iowa Code to allocate the current year’s net margin to deferred patronage 
dividends upon meeting certain requirements and is required to make such allocations if the net margin for the year 
exceeds specified maximums. The Board of Directors has appropriated $16,220,686 and $5,553,495 of the 2016 and 
2015 net margins, respectively, to deferred patronage dividends. Deferred patronage dividends are eligible to be paid 
in the future as determined by the Board of Directors under certain conditions.

  Under the conditions of the Cooperative’s indenture, deferred patronage dividends cannot be retired without 
approval of the RUS and the NRUCFC unless the remaining equity meets certain tests. The Cooperative met these 
tests at December 31, 2016 and 2015.

(7) Deferred Regulatory Debits and Credits

  Regulatory assets are recorded for expenses that are deferred and will be recovered through rates charged to members 
in future periods. Such deferrals are approved by the Board of Directors. The Cooperative does not earn a return on 
these regulatory assets. Regulatory credits are established for revenue that has been deferred as approved by the Board 
of Directors. These amounts will be included in income in the year that they are applied to future costs or otherwise 
returned to members through a reduction in rates.
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(8) Short-Term Debt

  At December 31, 2015, the Cooperative had two separate three-year credit agreements with both NRUCFC and 
CoBank, each providing $50,000,000 of available financing. In January 2016, the Cooperative renewed the credit 
agreements with NRUCFC and CoBank for five years.

  The Cooperative has drawn down on its credit facilities $30,000,000 and $20,000,000 as of December 31, 2016 and 
2015, respectively. Interest rates for the 2016 advances range from 1.59% to 1.91%.

(9) Long-Term Debt

  The Cooperative executed an Indenture of Mortgage, Security Agreement and Financing Statement, dated as of 
August 30, 2013 (Indenture) between the Cooperative, as Grantor, to U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee. The 
Indenture provides secured note holders with a prorated interest in substantially all owned assets.

  Long-term debt consists of mortgage notes payable to the United States of America acting through the RUS from 
the FFB, NRUCFC, CoBank, revenue bonds issued due to agreements with Webster City, and notes borrowed through 
the USDA Intermediary Relending Program (IRP Notes) and Rural Economic Development Loan and Grant (REDLG 
Loans) Program. The proceeds of these IRP Notes and REDLG Loans are then lent to other eligible businesses within 
certain approved counties in the Cooperative’s service area. Substantially, all the assets, rent, income, revenue, and 
net margin of the Cooperative are pledged as collateral for the long-term debt of the Cooperative, except for IRP 
Notes and REDLG Loans, which are not secured by assets of the Cooperative. Long-term debt has the following 
components:

Maturities of long-term debt for the next five years are as follows:

Year

2017  $      13,428,433 

2018 13,292,679

2019 13,332,912

2020 13,263,837

2021 12,972,478

Thereafter 148,432,171

 $     214,722,510 

2016 2015 

Mortgage notes due in quarterly installments:

FFB 1.63%-9.024%, due 2017-2039  $    185,689,214  195,111,068 

CoBank 3.47%, due 2017-2024 5,582,500  6,352,500 

NRUCFC 5.60%-6.25%, due 2017-2020 1,643,920 2,323,320

NRUCFC 2.95%, due 2017-2024 3,097,126  3,474,838 

196,012,760 207,261,726

Revenue bonds 2.75%-6.00%, due 2017-2036 13,581,667 14,013,333

USDA Intermediary Relending Program - 0%-1%, due 2017-2035 5,128,083 4,395,578

 $     214,722,510  225,670,637 N
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  Restrictive covenants required the Cooperative to set rates that would enable it to maintain a margin for interest of 1.10. 
The Cooperative is also required to maintain a debt service coverage of 1.00, a minimum membership capital balance 
of $70,000,000 excluding accumulated other comprehensive income, and achieve either an average equity ratio 
of not less than 10% or have been assigned a credit rating of BBB- or higher. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 
Cooperative was in compliance with its covenants on long-term debt with respect to these financial ratios.

  During 2016, the Cooperative borrowed $1,665,000 from the FFB to finance generation construction at a rate of 1.647%. 

  Since 1979, the Cooperative has had a long-term agreement with Webster City under which Webster City agreed to 
provide certain generation and transmission facilities to the Cooperative and the Cooperative has agreed to guarantee 
repayment of financing issued by Webster City to pay for these facilities and the continued improvement of these 
facilities. The Cooperative has recorded these assets in electric plant and has reflected the debt associated with this 
guarantee as long-term debt. Further, as part of the agreement, the Cooperative provided Webster City its wholesale 
power at rates consistent with rates charged to other Cooperative members. In September 2011, the Cooperative and 
Webster City entered into a new agreement to continue their relationship until December 2050 In 2016, Webster City 
extended the contract until December 2055.

  In April 2012, Webster City commenced $14.9 million of financing in the form of revenue bonds associated with the 
Webster City agreement. The funds received in the financing were placed in a special fund to be used solely for the 
purpose of financing Webster City’s proportionate share of the capital expenditures of the contributed facilities. 

  USDA Rural Development requires all IRP and REDLG loans to be fully insured. The Cooperative maintains IRP and 
REDLG accounts with Bank Iowa. In February 2013, the Cooperative and Bank Iowa entered into a master repurchase 
agreement to guarantee the IRP and REDLG accounts in case of default. The accounts are guaranteed by securities 
pledged from Federal Farm Credit Bank and Federal National Mortgage Association in the amount not to exceed 
$2,000,000. These agreements will mature in five years or less. During 2016, the Cooperative borrowed $900,000 of 
funds from the USDA.

(10) Special Funds

  Special funds consist of money the RUS requires to be set aside for deferral of revenue (note 7), future removal of the 
Wisdom Unit 1 ash landfill, issuance of revenue bonds (note 9) and RUS Cushion of Credit.

2016 2015 

Ash landfill fund  $         47,593 47,115

Deferred credit fund  -    2,350,000 

Revenue bonds fund 1,116,606  1,122,308 

RUS Cushion of Credit  -    474,988 

 $     1,164,199 3,994,411

(11) Commitments and Contingencies

  In 2002, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase 11.49% of the monthly generation 
from the Hancock County Wind Energy Center up to 11.22 megawatts. This agreement is effective through December 
31, 2022 and rates are firm for the life of the contract.

  In 2007, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase the monthly generation from 
Crosswind Energy, LLC up to 21 megawatts. This agreement is effective through June 15, 2022 and rates are firm for 
the life of the contract.

  A long-term purchased power agreement with Basin Electric began on January 1, 2008 for 50 MW and expires 
December 31, 2075. 

  In 2008, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase the monthly generation from Iowa 
Lakes Electric Cooperative’s two wind farms both of which started generating in 2009. The agreement was amended 
in 2011 and the price is fixed for each of the years from 2017 to 2028. The Cooperative is only obligated to pay for 
power that is actually received and the projects are not dispatchable.
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  The Cooperative has reached a tentative agreement in its Federal Energy Regulatory Commission rate case to 
determine its annual transmission revenue requirements as a member of SPP. Negotiations are ongoing with two other 
transmission owners in zone 19 of SPP to determine how the Cooperative’s grandfathered agreements are incorporated 
into the rate. The financial impact of the outcome of the negotiations could be significant. Given the negotiations are 
for periods subsequent to 2016, the Cooperative has not accrued any amounts as of December 31, 2016.

(12) Joint Plant Ownership

  Under joint ownership agreements with other utilities, the Cooperative had undivided interests at December 31, 2016 in 
electric plant, including construction work in progress, as shown below:

Total
electric

plant
Accumulated
depreciation

Unit
accredited

capacity (MW)
Cooperative’s 

share (%)

Wisdom Unit 2  $    16,167,164  6,073,474 80  43.8 

Neal #4  85,489,670  45,179,052 644  11.3 

Walter Scott #3  30,194,061  15,228,299 690  3.8 

DAEC  121,205,073  81,017,686 614  10.0 

Walter Scott #4  72,091,654  17,851,765 804  5.6 

Walter Scott #4 - transmission  4,976,169  1,094,757  -    4.3 

Lehigh Webster - transmission  4,635,894  1,482,920  -    27.0 

Neal #3 Grimes-Lehigh - transmission  654,234  193,769  -    3.8 

  Each participant provided its own financing for its share of the unit. The Cooperative’s share of direct expenses of the 
jointly owned units is included in the operating and maintenance expenses on the statements of revenue and expenses.

  During 2006, the Cooperative; one of its members, North Iowa Municipal Electric Cooperative Association (NIMECA); 
and the city of Spencer, a NIMECA member, entered into a long-term generation use agreement of approximately 5 
megawatts of the Cooperative’s capacity in the Wisdom Unit 2 generation facilities. The plant statistics have been 
reduced to reflect the agreement.

(13) Asset Retirement Obligation

  The Cooperative has asset retirement obligations (AROs) arising from regulatory requirements to perform certain asset 
retirement activities at the time of decommissioning DAEC and disposing of certain electric plant. The liability was 
initially measured at fair value and subsequently is adjusted for accretion expense and changes in the amount or timing 
of the estimated cash flows. The corresponding asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of 
the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful life.

  The Cooperative recognizes and estimates an ARO for its 10% share of the estimated cost to decommission DAEC. 
During 2008, an NRC estimate of the decommissioning costs was updated. This report estimated the Cooperative’s 
share of the costs to be approximately $76,159,700 (in 2008 dollars). The following table presents the activity for the 
AROs for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016 2015 

Balance at January 1  $    71,985,000  68,557,000 

Accretion expense  3,599,000 3,428,000

Balance at December 31 $   75,584,000  71,985,000 

N
ot

es
 to

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
D

E
C

E
M

B
E

R
 3

1,
 2

0
16

 A
N

D
 2

0
15



Never Stop Getting Better       Financials      2016 63

  The Cooperative also recognizes a liability for its share of the estimated cost to remove the ash landfills at Walter Scott 
#3 and Neal #4. A reconciliation of the changes in the ARO is depicted below:

2016 2015 

Balance at January 1  $    1,511,948  1,094,715 

Changes in estimates, including timing  116,621  (88,760)

Accretion expense  73,488  505,993 

Obligations incurred  -    -   

Balance at December 31  $    1,702,057  1,511,948 

(14) Nuclear Insurance Program

  Liability for accidents at nuclear power plants is governed by the Price-Anderson Act, which limits the liability of 
nuclear reactor owners to the amount of insurance available from both private sources and an industry retrospective 
payment plan. In accordance with this Act, DAEC maintains $375 million of private liability insurance, which is the 
maximum obtainable, and participates in a secondary financial protection system, which provides up to $13 billion of 
liability insurance coverage per incident at any nuclear reactor in the United States. The Cooperative’s assessment on 
its 10% ownership in DAEC is approximately $12.7 million per nuclear incident. 

  Pursuant to provisions in various nuclear insurance policies, the Cooperative could be assessed retroactive premiums 
in connection with future accidents at a nuclear facility owned by a utility participating in the particular insurance 
plan. In addition, the Cooperative could be assessed annually approximately $1.9 million related to coverage for excess 
property damage if the insurer’s losses relating to an accident exceed its reserves. While assessment also may be 
made for losses in certain prior years, the Cooperative is not aware of any losses in such years that it believes are 
likely to result in an assessment.

  In the unlikely event of a catastrophic loss at DAEC, the amount of insurance available may not be adequate to cover 
property damage, decontamination, and premature decommissioning. Uninsured losses, to the extent not recovered 
through rates, would be borne by the Cooperative and Basin Electric, through the power purchase agreement, and 
could have a materially adverse effect on the Cooperative’s financial position and results of operations.

(15) Benefit Plans

  The RS Plan, sponsored by NRECA, is a defined-benefit pension plan qualified under Section 401 and tax-exempt 
under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. It is considered a multi-employer plan under the accounting 
standards. The plan sponsor’s Employer Identification Number is 53-0116145 and the Plan Number is 333.

  A unique characteristic of a multi-employer plan compared to a single-employer plan is that all plan assets are 
available to pay benefits of any plan participant. Separate asset accounts are not maintained for participating 
employers. This means that assets contributed by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of 
other participating employers.

  The Cooperative’s contributions to the RS Plan in 2016 and 2015 represented less than 5 percent of the total 
contributions made to the plan by all participating employers. The Cooperative made contributions to the plan of 
$1,379,107 and $1,243,940 in 2016 and 2015, respectively (including prepayment discussed below).

  For the RS Plan, a “zone status” determination is not required, and therefore, not determined, under the Pension 
Protection Act (PPA) of 2006. In addition, the accumulated benefit obligations and plan assets are not determined or 
allocated separately by individual employers. In total, the RS Plan was over 80% funded on January 1, 2016 and 2015 
based on the PPA funding target and PPA actuarial value of assets on those dates.

  Because the provisions of the PPA do not apply to the RS Plan, funding improvement plans and surcharges are not 
applicable. Future contribution requirements are determined each year as part of the actuarial valuation of the plan 
and may change as a result of plan experience.
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  In March 2013, the Cooperative elected to a make a contribution prepayment and reduce future required 
contributions. The prepayment amount of $4,371,946 was the Cooperative’s share, as of January 1, 2013, of future 
contributions required to fund the RS Plan’s unfunded value of benefits earned to date using RS Plan actuarial 
valuation assumptions. The Cooperative is amortizing this amount over 10 years. After making the prepayment, the 
Cooperative’s billing rate was reduced by approximately 25%, retroactive to January 1, 2013. The 25% differential in 
billing rates is expected to continue for approximately 15 years. However, changes in interest rates, asset returns and 
other plan experience different from expected, plan assumption changes and other factors may have an impact on 
the differential in billing rates and the 15-year period.

  The Cooperative also provides a 401(k) plan, available to all employees, with the Cooperative matching 40% of the 
employees’ contributions up to 5% of the employees’ wages. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 
Cooperative contributed $138,147 and $132,505, respectively, to the 401(k) plan.

(16) NIMECA Combined Transmission System

  In 1989, the Cooperative and one of its members, NIMECA, entered into a joint transmission agreement that allows 
several members of NIMECA an individual undivided ownership interest in and access to the Cooperative’s transmission 
system. The Cooperative will continue to operate and maintain the system. NIMECA members will reimburse the 
Cooperative for the proportionate share of operating expenses of the system and will contribute proportionately for all 
future capital additions of the system. The reimbursement of the 2016 and 2015 operating expenses was $868,263 and 
$837,878, respectively, and was recorded as other operating revenue. 

(17) Environmental Matters

  The Coal Combustion Residual (CCR) rule took effect October 2015. The CCR rule regulates CCR as a non-hazardous 
waste. The rule establishes minimum criteria for disposing of CCR in landfills and surface impoundments (ash ponds).

  On December 16, 2011, EPA issued the final Utility Mercury and Air Toxics Rule (Utility MATS rule). The Utility MATS rule 
regulates mercury and other hazardous air pollutants based on maximum achievable control technology for new and 
existing coal-fired and oil-fired electric generating units nationwide. Compliance with the Utility MATS rule was required 
by April 2015.

  The EPA CSAPR was in effect January 1, 2015.  This rule regulates interstate emissions of NOx and SO2 contributing to 
nonattainment areas of fine particulate and ozone. In 2015, EPA proposed a more stringent NOx seasonal Phase II. The 
NOx seasonal Phase II of the rule was finalized in 2016 and will become effective in May of 2017.

  The EPA finalized a new rule for existing plants under Section 111(d) of the Act in 2015, which requires reduction in 
carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions from existing coal-fired and combined cycle natural gas electric generating units. 
Each affected state is to develop a state implementation plan (SIP) to comply with this rule. The rule has interim CO2 
reduction requirements beginning in 2022 with final reduction requirements in 2030. In February 2016, the U.S. Supreme 
Court issued a stay of these final standards until pending legal challenges are resolved, which places implementation of 
these final standards on hold indefinitely.

  The Cooperative believes that the combination of the costs for the required capital investments, increased operational 
expenses, and purchase of emission allowances resulting from these new and revised regulations will be significant.

(18) Subsequent Events

  The Cooperative has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through March 6, 2017, the date at which 
the financial statements were available to be issued and noted no additional items to disclose.  
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